

Measuring Patient Experiences in Primary Health Care

A review and classification of items and scales used in publicly-available questionnaires

May 2013









Sabrina T. Wong, RN, PhD University of British Columbia

Jeannie Haggerty, PhD McGill University



a place of mind

Measuring Patient Experiences in Primary Health Care: A review and classification of items and scales used in publicly-available questionnaires was produced by:

Centre for Health Services and Policy Research University of British Columbia 201–2206 East Mall Vancouver, BC V6T 1Z3

Phone: 604-822-4969

Email: enquire@chspr.ubc.ca

You can download this publication from www.chspr.ubc.ca



Contents

2	About	CHSPR
/	ADOIL	(HYPK

- 2 About the Canadian Primary Health Care Research and Innovation Network
- 3 Forward
- 4 Executive Summary
- 5 1. Introduction
- 5 1.1. Contribution of Patient Experiences in Primary Health Care (PHC) to the Performance of Health Care Systems
- 5 1.2. Developing a Tool to Measure Patient Experiences in PHC
- 6 1.3. This Report
- 7 2. Objectives of the Review
- 8 3. Methodology
- 8 3.1. Defining Dimensions of Patient Experiences in PHC
- 10 3.2. Identifying Relevant Instruments and Surveys
- 10 3.3. Classification
- 11 4. Results
- 4.1. Dimensions of Patient Experiences in Primary Health Care Covered by Existing Surveys and Instruments
- 14 5. Discussion
- 14 5.1. Instruments and Surveys Selected
- 14 5.2. The Patient Experiences Survey
- 15 5.3. Limitations and Strengths
- 16 6. Conclusion
- 17 7. References
- 23 8. Appendix
- 8.1. Classification of the Items from the Selected Survey Tools
- 23 8.2. Access
- 8.3. Interpersonal Communication
- 26 8.4. Continuity and Coordination
- 8.5. Comprehensiveness of Services
- 8.6. Patient Reported Impacts of Primary Health Care
- 30 8.7. Trust
- 31 9. Acknowledgements

About CHSPR

The Centre for Health Services and Policy Research (CHSPR) is an independent research centre based at the University of British Columbia. CHSPR's mission is to advance scientific enquiry into issues of health in population groups, and ways in which health services can best be organized, funded and delivered. Our researchers carry out a diverse program of applied health services and population health research under this agenda. The Centre's work is:

- Independent
- · Population-based
- Policy relevant
- Interdisciplinary
- Privacy sensitive

CHSPR aims to contribute to the improvement of population health by ensuring our research is relevant to contemporary health policy concerns and by working closely with decision makers to actively translate research findings into policy options. Our researchers are active participants in many policy-making forums and provide advice and assistance to both government and non-government organizations in British Columbia (BC), Canada and abroad.

For more information about CHSPR, please visit www.chspr.ubc.ca.

About the Canadian Primary Health Care Research and Innovation Network (CPHCRIN)

Established in October 2011, CPHCRIN is a research, training, and knowledge exchange network whose vision and operations are informed by an understanding of the contribution to performance and capacity building that can be made by a pan-Canadian research network, and by an inclusive approach. The network acts as a rich heterogeneous forum that yields creative discussion and debate about the future of CBPHC in Canada, and that allows us to better address the pressing challenges of today with a research agenda that encompasses a vast number of questions, perspectives, and methodologies. CPHCRIN facilitates the creation, translation, and scale-up of innovative models of CBPHC, in order to influence the efficiency and effectiveness of health care in Canada.

For more information about CPHCRIN please visit www.cphcrin-rcrissp.ca.





Forward

The Canadian Primary Health Care Research and Innovation Network (CPHCRIN) is pleased to host three important and related scoping reports on measurement in primary health care (PHC). Measurement is basic to organizational quality improvement, reporting, and accountability and research to improve our understanding of primary health care (PHC) service delivery. Stakeholders, including decision-makers, clinicians, and researchers, very often need to collect data that is best reported by practices, clinicians, and/or patients to answer practice and research questions.

There are three separate but related technical reports that are companions to the Canadian Institute for Health Information (CIHI) suite of PHC organizational, provider, and patient experience surveys. The authors of these three reports scanned international scientific and grey literature to bring together the many varied ways different people have tried to measure the delivery and experience of primary care service. The organizational and provider reports bring together, for the first time, information on different dimensions of PHC best reported on by organizations or clinicians. The patient report updates and builds on work that examined patient experiences in PHC. All authors have reviewed and classified measurement items and scales used in publicly-available questionnaires. CIHI also sought feedback from stakeholders on the development of the suite of surveys.

This work is the first step in preparing a suite of new PHC surveys that captures dimensions of PHC important to Canadians. The hope is that these surveys will be widely adopted and used. Standardized surveys bring the advantage of allowing comparisons with work done by other jurisdictions in other contexts. CPHCRIN encourages researchers and other stakeholder groups to use, where ever possible, the resulting new suite of surveys. Should it happen that your particular area of enquiry is not fully addressed in the new surveys, these reports will provide you with a comprehensive list of tools or indicators which might better address your particular need. It is expected that these scoping reports will save you time as they present the many different ways questions have been asked to try to understand PHC service delivery.

CIHI provided financial and staffing support for this work. The final suite of three new surveys is available on the CIHI website at *www.cihi.ca/phc*.

Sincerely,

Dr. William Hogg

Mille C. Hy.

on behalf of the CPHCRIN Executive Committee

Executive Summary

Monitoring information about patients' experiences is essential to stimulate innovation, track changes in quality, and help Canadians become more informed about their health care system. Measuring the quality of the primary health care (PHC) system from patients' perspectives has been identified as a crucial step towards defining areas of improvement and monitoring the impact of change. Regularly scheduled PHC surveys have been recommended as a future data collection strategy. However, no standardized, self-reported or comparable PHC survey currently exists for use with patients across Canada.

The purpose of this review was to identify items and scales to inform the composition of a core Patient Experience Survey for use across Canada. This scoping review provides an up-to-date review of the publicly available instruments that purport to measure patients' experiences in PHC.

The three main objectives of this review were to:

- Identify the relevant instruments and surveys assessing patients' experiences in PHC;
- 2. Classify items and questions in the appropriate dimensions of patient experiences; and
- 3. Provide a foundation for the Patient Experience Survey instrument for the Canadian Institute for Health Information (CIHI) Primary Health Care Survey project.

The Patient Experiences Survey was developed based on a review of relevant conceptual frameworks related to performance measurement of the PHC system, and past work that provides operational definitions of dimensions relevant to PHC from patients' reports of their PHC experiences. Relevant instruments and surveys were assessed based on previous work, an

environmental scan of health surveys completed by CIHI and a review of national and international the peer-reviewed and grey literature. Items for inclusion in the Patient Experience Survey were based on two criteria: 1) relevant to patients' experiences in PHC and 2) publicly available. Instruments and surveys published in English and French were reviewed.

A total of 17 instruments and surveys were retained. The instruments varied in size as did the number of dimensions and sub-dimensions. The Patient Experience Survey measures six dimensions (15 sub-dimensions) of PHC that are best measured based on patient reports: 1) Access, 2) Interpersonal Communication, 3) Continuity and Coordination, 4) Health Promotion within Technical Quality of Care, 5) Trust, and 6) Patient-Reported Impacts of Care.

This work highlighted that many surveys and instruments exist to assess patient experiences in PHC and that no instrument or survey offered full coverage of dimensions of PHC important to patients. The items used to develop the Patient Experience Survey are meant to capture various aspects of how the PHC system is performing. This Patient Experience Survey contains items that measure outputs and immediate outcomes of PHC that are best reported by patients. The immediate outcomes of PHC are considered patient-reported impacts of PHC delivery.

The length of the survey administered to patients will depend ultimately on the dimension and sub-dimension of interest and the purpose for which the survey is being conducted. Therefore, choosing dimensions and sub-dimensions of interest, rather than specific items, should be identified prior to survey administration.



1. Introduction

1.1. Contribution of Patient Experiences in Primary Health Care (PHC) to the Performance of Health Care Systems

Health care systems with a strong foundation of primary health care (PHC) are recognized for improving the overall health of populations. [1-3] To improve access to health care for Canadians, decision-makers have made a number of commitments supporting the reform towards the organization, financing and delivery of PHC. [4, 5] By focusing on access to services, continuity of care, effectiveness, safety, responsiveness and comprehensiveness [2, 3, 6] in PHC, it is expected that patients would report a great impact on their health.

Monitoring information about patients' experiences is essential to stimulate innovation, track changes in quality, and help Canadians become more informed about their health care system.^[7] A well-constructed PHC survey offers a window into patients' perceptions that is otherwise unavailable.^[8] Patients are uniquely positioned to report on their care experiences and they are often the only common thread across disparate health care settings.^[9] Consequently, measuring the quality of the PHC system from patients' perspectives has been identified as a crucial step towards defining areas of improvement and monitoring the impact of change.^[10] Regularly scheduled PHC surveys have been recommended as a future data collection strategy.[11] However, no standardized, self-reported or comparable PHC survey currently exists for use with patients in Canada.

1.2. Developing a Tool to Measure Patient Experiences in PHC

The Canadian Institute for Health Information (CIHI) led the development of a suite of three survey instruments for PHC organizations, providers and patients

that can be used to measure performance of PHC. This scoping review was part of the Primary Health Care Survey project of the CIHI and was done in order to support the creation of the patient experience questionnaire that could be used to assess the quality and performance of PHC in Canada. The purpose of this review was to identify survey elements to inform the composition of a core patient experience survey instrument that could be used across Canada.

In Canada, research in primary health care has not fully utilized patient reports of the their experiences. [12] Patients who have ever used PHC offer valuable contributions to the improvement of their care. They can be definers of good quality, evaluators of health care delivery and reporters of their experiences. [13] As participants in health care delivery, they can influence the quality of care in more direct ways, such as involvement in decisions concerning medical treatment. Patients' perspectives for assessing the quality of care focuses on aspects of service delivery important for patients. [14, 15] Ongoing monitoring of patients' experiences using self-report surveys combined with routine feedback to PHC providers can lead to practice improvements and internal quality control; it also enhances a culture of patient engagement.[16] Engaging patients increases the likelihood that they can carry out agreed-upon treatment plans to the best of their abilities. Patients who are engaged in understanding their condition are more likely to report a better quality of life and satisfaction with PHC. [17] Outcomes of ongoing monitoring and feedback include enhancing patient choice of provider, better adherence to medical advice, [18-20] and reduced rates of complaints, [21] grievances, [22] and the level and seriousness of malpractice claims. [23, 24] It can affect functional health outcomes and actual health. [16, 19, 25, 26]

Some developed and validated self-report PHC instruments have been used in Canada, but no single instrument captures all dimensions of the quality of PHC important to patients. Two instruments used commonly to measure the quality of PHC in Canada are the Primary Care Assessment Tool (PCAT)[27] and the Primary Care Assessment Survey (PCAS).[28, 29] The PCAT^[27] consists of five PHC domains: strength of affiliation with provider, first contact (accessibility and use), ongoing care (relational longitudinality), comprehensiveness (availability and provision of services), and coordination (medical record continuity and integration of care). The PCAS^[28, 29] contains seven PHC domains: accessibility (financial and organizational), continuity (longitudinal and visitbased), comprehensiveness (contextual knowledge of the patient and preventive counseling), integration, clinical interaction (physician-patient communication, thoroughness of examination), interpersonal treatment, and trust.[30-32] Both of these instruments are long and measure different dimensions of PHC.

Other self-report generic PHC instruments such as the Components of Primary Care Index,^[33] the EUROPEP,^[34, 35] and the Ambulatory Care Experiences Survey (ACES)^[8] have been shown to be valid for Canadians, and have been translated into French. None of these instruments have been validated for other languages commonly spoken in Canada such as Chinese or Punjabi. There are several distinctions between instruments, but the biggest issue is that the use of different instruments makes it very difficult to compare patient experiences over time or between regions. Development of a reliable and validated Canadian PHC instrument will provide a standardized measure that can be used to monitor the quality of the PHC system from the patient perspective.

Since 2000, there has been considerable interest in collecting patients' perspectives on health and health care. There are existing surveys collecting PHC information, including the Canadian Community Health Survey (CCHS),[36] the Health Services Access Survey (HSAS),[37] the Canadian Survey of Patient Experiences with Primary Health Care (CSE-PHC)[38] and the Commonwealth Fund International Health Policy Survey.[39] The CCHS is a population-based survey, administered by Statistics Canada using both computer-assisted personal and telephone interviews every two years, that collects a broad range of health information.[36] The HSAS is a supplement to the CCHS. The HSAS is conducted at irregular intervals, designed to collect information on patient experiences of access to first contact services and waiting time for key diagnostic and treatment services.[37] The CSE-PHC was conducted in 2007 with a nationally representative Canadian sample.[38] The Commonwealth Fund International Health Policy survey is a yearly survey conducted in Australia, Canada, New Zealand, the U.K., and the U.S. [39] It collects information on access, emergency care, coordination, continuity, and consumer-physician interactions, but these data are not publicly available for research or planning use.

1.3. This Report

This scoping review provides an up-to-date, international review of the publicly available instruments that purport to measure patients' experiences in PHC. We provide a classification grid of the different dimensions currently measured in these surveys and classify the items and instruments that measure different dimensions. The survey tools reported here help us to elaborate a more complete set of measures in order to allow users to capture many dimensions of patient experiences relevant to PHC.



2. Objectives of the Review

This review aims to draw a global portrait of the main items and question formulations found in instruments that can be used to measure patient experiences relevant to PHC. The three main objectives of this scoping review were:

- 1. To identify the relevant surveys and tools assessing the patients' experiences in PHC;
- 2. To classify any single items and questions in the appropriate dimensions of patient experiences.
- 3. To provide a foundation for the Patient Experience Survey Instrument for the CIHI Primary Health Care Survey project.

3. Methodology

The Patient Experiences Survey was developed based on a review of relevant conceptual frameworks related to performance measurement of the PHC system and past work that provides operational definitions of dimensions relevant to primary care^[40] and patients' reports of their experiences in PHC.^[41,42] We developed a pool of relevant items that could be used to measure dimensions of PHC best reported by patients. Once the survey was constructed, we used cognitive or "think-aloud" interviews^[43,44] with English and French-speaking participants (n=15) living in Montreal in order to examine whether items were understood in the way we intended. All procedures for conducting the cognitive interviews were approved by St. Mary's Hospital, Montreal, Quebec.

3.1. Defining Dimensions of Patient Experiences in PHC

Dimensions of patient experiences in PHC were identified from three main sources. First, Haggerty et al.[40] proposed 25 different dimensions to consider when assessing the impacts of PHC renewal initiatives. The 25 dimensions are categorized into five groups: clinical practice attributes, practice structural dimensions, person-oriented dimensions, community-oriented dimensions, and system performance dimensions. There are dimensions found to be specific to primary care: accessibility-first contact, continuity-relational, family-centered care, intersectoral team, population orientation. Of the 25 dimensions defined by Haggerty et al., some dimensions relevant to PHC are best measured using patients' reports of their experiences, notably accessibility, continuity, and interpersonal communication.[40, 42]

Second, our work was informed by the Framework for Primary Care created by Hogg et al.^[45] They developed a conceptual framework designed to support

the measurement of PHC system performance in two complementary domains: structural and performance. "The structural domain describes the health care system, practice context and organization of the practice in which any primary care organization operates. The performance domain includes features of health care service delivery and technical quality of clinical care" [45, p.398]

Finally, our work was informed by the PHC Logic Model. [46] This model identifies inputs, outputs, and immediate, intermediate, and final outcomes. The PHC Logic Model outputs rely on the identification of important dimensions of PHC by Haggerty et al. [40] We specifically drew on the PHC Logic Model immediate outcomes in creating the Patient Experience Survey since increased knowledge about health and health care among the population and reduced risk and effects of continuing conditions "are, for the most part, under the direct control of the PHC sector." [46, p.7]

Based on our review of these main sources, six dimensions of PHC are important to measure from patients' perspectives:

- 1. Access
- 2. Interpersonal Communication
- 3. Continuity and Coordination
- 4. Health Promotion within Technical Quality of Care
- 5. Trust
- 6. Patient-Reported Impacts of Care.

Each dimension (see Table 1) includes a brief definition. In total, our classification yielded six dimensions and 15 sub-dimensions of patient experiences in PHC.



Table 1: Dimensions of patients' experiences in primary health care

Dimension	Sub-dimension	Definition
	First contact accessibility	The ability to obtain patient-or client-initiated needed care (including advice and support) from the provider of choice within a time frame appropriate to the urgency of the problem. [40]
Access	Accomodation	The relationship between how resources are organized to accept patients or clients (including appointment systems, hours of operation, walk-in facilities, telephone services) and the patients' or clients' ability to accommodate to these factors to realize access. ^[40]
	Economic accessibility	The extent to which direct or indirect costs related to care impeded decisions to access needed care or continue recommended care.
	General communication	The ability of the provider to elicit and understand patient or client concerns, and to explain health and health care issues. [40, 47]
Interpersonal communica- tion	Respectfulness	The ability of the primary care organization and practitioners to provide care that meets the expectations of users about how people should be treated, such as regard for dignity and provision of adequate privacy. [40, 47]
	Shared decision-making	The extent to which patients or clients are involved in making decisions about their treatment. ^[47]
	Whole-person care	The extent to which providers address the physical, emotional and social aspects of a patient's or client's health and consider the community context in their care. [40]
	Relational continuity	A therapeutic relationship between a patient or client and one or more identified providers that spans separate health care episodes and delivers care that is consistent with the patient's or client's biopsychosocial needs. [40]
Continuity and	Information continuity	The extent to which information is used to make current care appropriate to the patient or client.
coordination	Coordination	The provision and organization of a combination of health services and information with which to meet a patient's or client's health needs, including services available from other community health service providers. [9, 10]
	Team functioning	The ability of primary health care providers to work effectively as a collaborative team to manage and deliver quality patient or client care.
Comprehen- siveness of	Services provided	The provision, either directly or indirectly, of a full range of services to meet patients' or clients' health care needs. This includes health promotion, prevention, diagnosis and treatment of common conditions, referral to other clinicians, management of chronic conditions, rehabilitation, palliative care and, in some models, social services. [40]
services	Health promotion and primary prevention	Health promotion is the process of enabling people to increase control over, and to improve, their health.[12] Primary prevention is directed towards preventing the initial occurrence of a disorder.[13]
Trust		An expectation that the other person will behave in a way that is beneficial and that allows for risks to be taken based on this expectation. For example, patient or client trust in the physician provides a basis for taking the risk of sharing personal information. [48]
	Patient activation	Patient's or client's ability or readiness to engage in health behaviors that will maintain or improve their health status. ^[49, 50]
Patient- reported impacts of	Patient safety	Patient's or client's reports of medication errors (given or taken the wrong drug or dose) or incorrect medical or laboratory reports and communication with their provider about not taking their prescribed medication or medication side effects.
care	Confidence in the PHC system	The perception that allows patients or clients of health care to make decisions since they assume (and expect) relative certainty about providers delivering safe and technically competent care. [51]

3.2. Identifying Relevant Instruments and Surveys

Relevant instruments and surveys were assessed based on previous work completed by Wong^[52, 53] and Haggerty,^[54] an environmental scan of health surveys completed by the CIHI, and a review of the peerreviewed and grey literature. The literature review focused on material (published and unpublished) available in Canada related to the identification of different dimensions of patient experiences in PHC, as well as on international material (specifically, from Europe, Australia, New Zealand and the United States) that had the potential to be applied in a Canadian setting.

The items identified from the instruments and surveys for inclusion in the Patient Experience Survey were selected based on two criteria:

- Relevant to patients' experiences in PHC
- 2. Publicly available.

Instruments and surveys published in English and French were considered for review.

3.3. Classification

Information available from instruments and surveys was entered into a Microsoft Excel data table. For each instrument and survey, a research assistant classified the items within the dimensions of patient experiences in PHC (see Table 1). Once the items were classified, two independent observers (Haggerty & Wong) assessed the relevance of the classification. Tables were then iteratively adjusted until the authors reached consensus with regards to which item should be attributed to each dimension.

The instrument or survey covered at least one item in a dimension in order to obtain a check mark; that is, the number of items from the same instrument or survey within a dimension was not a factor for inclusion in this table.



4. Results

In reviewing the literature, we found many instruments and surveys that assessed patient experiences in PHC. As part of the work for this report, we also reviewed the New Brunswick Patient Health Care Experience Survey, [55] the Manitoba Physician Integrated Network patient survey,^[56] The Ontario Primary Care Access Survey,^[57] and the Nova Scotia Primary Care Practice Survey.^[58] No items from these surveys were retained since they were mainly based on previously identified instruments (e.g., Primary Care Assessment Tool^[59]). Additionally, several other instruments and surveys were reviewed and informed the final Patient Experience Survey; these included work completed in a number of different countries. Instruments and surveys from Europe included EUROPEP^[60] and Quality and Cost of Primary Care (QUALICO-PC) Patient Exeriences and Patient Values questionnaires. [61] Instruments and surveys from the United States included Components of Primary Care Index,[33] Patient Satisfaction Questionnaire Short Form (PSQ-18), [62], VA National Outpatient Customer Satisfaction Survey, [63] The Consultation Quality Index[64], Measure of Processes of Care^[65], Patient Experiences Questionnaire^[66], Patient Perception of Patient Centred Care, [67] Patient Activation Measure Short Form^[49], and Patient Enablement Index.[68]

We retained a total of 17 instruments and surveys from which items were retained for the final Patient Experience Survey (see Table 2). The instruments varied in size (long or short version) as did the number of dimensions and sub-dimensions (e.g., accessibility, continuity, interpersonal processes of care). Most of them aimed to measure access and continuity of care experiences. The processes of care such as respectfulness of the provider, shared decision-making, and coordination of care were also widely measured by these instruments.

The instruments and surveys varied in length (from 12 questions to more than 250 questions). They also varied as to whether the patient was asked to respond about their most recent visit or about their general experiences in PHC with their usual provider over the last 12 months.

The 17 instruments and surveys were designed to be used mostly in primary care settings; ten were created in a country other than Canada, one was an international initiative (Commonwealth Fund International Health Policy survey) and nine were administered only in Canada. The geographic areas covered by each survey tool varied from one study to another: international (e.g., QUALICO-PC=34 countries, Commonwealth Fund=10 countries), national (e.g., Canadian Survey of Experiences with PHC, General Practice Assessment Questionnaire) and regional (e.g., Accessibilité Rurale II, Interpersonal Processes of Care). All surveys and the majority of studies using these instruments are cross-sectional, collecting data at one point in time.

4.1. Dimensions of Patient Experiences in Primary Health Care Covered by Existing Surveys and Instruments

Table 3 shows the coverage of patient experiences in PHC dimensions by the surveys and instruments. No one survey or instrument covered the entire range of patient experience in PHC dimensions.

Table 2: Retained surveys and instruments from which the patient experience survey was developed

Origin	Name of the survey / project	Acronym	# Items retained for pt. experi- ence survey***
Canada	Canadian Survey of Experiences with Primary Health Care, 2007 ^[69]	CSE-PHC 2007	3
Canada	Canadian Community Health Survey ^[36]	CCHS	11
	Accessibilité Rurale II [70]		6
Québec	RurallI ^[71]		
(Canada)	Questionnaire populationnelle ^[72]	QPop	1
	Management Continuity ^[73]		17
British Columbia (Canada)	*Patient Experiences in Primary Care in BC ^[53] / Patient Experiences in Primary Care: BC, Manitoba, and Quebec ^[52]		13
	**National Health Service Patient Survey ^[74]	NHS patient survey	8
United Kingdom	General Practice Assessment Survey ^[75]	GPAS	4
migaom	General Practice Assessment Questionnaire ^[76]	GPAQ	11
	Consumer Assessment of Health Plan Survey clinician and group survey, $2011^{\tiny [77]}$	CAHPS	1
	Interpersonal Processes of Care original and short form ^[47, 78])	IPC	17
United States	Primary Care Assessment Tool ^[79]	PCAT	3
	Primary Care Assessment Survey, Ambulatory Care Experiences Survey ^[29,80]	PCAS/ACES	4
	Patient Assessment of Care for Chronic Conditions ^[81]	PACIC	4
	Commonwealth Fund International Health Policy Survey ^[82]	CWF	3

^{*} Three questions on patient activation in the Patient Experiences surveys were informed by Hibbard et al's[49] work.

^{**} Several annual versions of the NHS patient survey were reviewed. Seven items on the CIHI Patient Experience survey showed up in more than one survey (questions 3, 4, 5, 6, 18, 19, and 20).

^{***} One question in the Dimension of Patient Reported Impacts of Care was created during this process: "In the last 12 months, have you taken the wrong medication or wrong dose that was prescribed to you by a doctor, nurse, or pharmacist? Responses: Yes, No, not that I know of"



Table 3: Summary of the classification of the survey and instruments

	CSE-PHC	Accessibilité Rurale II/III	QPop	Management Continuity	Patient Experiences in PHC: BC/BC, Manitboa, Quebec	NHS Patient Survey	GPAS	GPAQ	САНРЅ	IPC	PCAT	PCAS/ACES	PACIC	CWF
Access														
First contact accessibility	Х	х	Х		Х	Х	х	Х	х		х	х		х
Accomodation	Х	Х	Х	х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х			Х		Х
Economic accessibility	Х	Х	Х		Х									Х
Interpersonal commu	ınicati	ion												
General communication	Х		х	Х	Х	Х	х	х	х	х		х	х	Х
Respectfulness			Х		Х	Х		Х	Х	Х		Х	Х	
Shared decision-making	Х				Х	Х		Х		Х			Х	Х
Whole-person care	Х		Х	Х	Х	Х	Х		Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х
Continuity and coord	dinatic	n												
Relational continuity	Х		Х	Х	Х		Х	Х	Х		Х	Х	Х	Х
Information continuity	Х		Х	Х			Х				Х	Х		
Coordination	Х		Х	Х	Х		Х				Х	Х	Х	Х
Team functioning	Х		Х	Х	Х		Х				Х	Х	Х	
Comprehensiveness	of serv	rices												
Services provided	Х			Х	Х	Х	Х				Х			Х
Health promotion and primary prevention	Х		Х	Х	Х		х			х	х	х	х	х
Trust				Х		Х	Х	х		х		Х		
Patient-reported imp	acts o	f PHC												
Patient activation	Х				Х					Х			Х	Х
Patient safety	Х									Х	Х		Х	Х
Confidence in the PHC system				Х	х									х

Note: The Canadian Community Health Survey (CCHS) is not included here since the items obtained were sociodemographic questions only.

5. Discussion

5.1. Instruments and Surveys Selected

Many instruments and surveys assessed patient experiences relevant to PHC. The majority of instruments and surveys were administered face-to-face or over the telephone. All instruments and surveys were available in English, with fewer being available in English and French. As mentioned above, some instruments and surveys offered better coverage than others. The majority of instruments and surveys did not include known patient reported outcome measures such as functional and emotional health status.

This work highlights the fact that many instruments and surveys exist to assess patient experiences in PHC. While most dimensions of PHC that are best reported by patients are covered by existing tools, certain dimensions about the quality of care remain under-developed. For example, the dimensions of: coordination, trust with provider and the practice, and team functioning could be further developed to more fully capture patients' reports of these experiences. These dimensions are important aspects of patients' care that can influence their health status and use of health services.

No single instrument or survey will likely offer the full coverage of patient experience dimensions relevant to PHC. The review of instruments and surveys helps clarify the dimensions which are measured by each item that in turn will facilitate the selection of the questions depending on the research aim. This review could be useful to those intending to measure multiple dimensions of patient experiences in PHC.

5.2. The Patient Experiences Survey

The instrument and survey items identified in this review informed the content of the Patient Experiences Survey. We attempted to cover all dimensions of care that can be accurately and precisely measured by patient reports and ratings. There are a total of six dimensions of care captured with the Patient Experiences Survey: Access, Interpersonal Communication, Continuity and Coordination, Comprehensiveness of Services, Trust, and Patient-Reported Impacts of PHC. These dimensions cover outputs and immediate outcomes of PHC that are best reported by patients. The immediate outcomes of PHC are considered patient-reported impacts of PHC delivery.

The majority of dimensions include between two and four sub-dimensions. For example, within the dimension of Interpersonal Communication there are four sub-dimensions: General Communication, Respectfulness, Shared Decision-Making, and Whole-Person Care. Several items (n=20) are provided to measure these four sub-dimensions. The number of items used to measure the various dimensions and sub-dimensions of patient experiences may seem daunting. The length of the survey administered to patients will depend ultimately on the dimension and sub-dimension of interest and the purpose for which the survey is being conducted. Therefore, choosing dimensions and sub-dimensions of interest, rather than specific items, should be identified at the beginning of the survey process as the time needed to complete the survey can impact costs and response rates. We suggest that these dimensions and subdimensions capture various aspects of how the PHC system is performing.



For the various items, we often adapted questions and/or response options to ensure that the survey was coherent and that there was consistency in the reference or frame used. In various instances, we had conducted research that allowed us to determine more suitable response options. [83-86] The Patient Experiences Survey captures both patients' reports of their experiences immediately following their visit and also their experiences in PHC over the past 12 months. Although cognitive interviewing has informed the construction of the Patient Experiences Survey, planned validation of the instrument will provide insight into items that measure common underlying constructs (which we expect to correspond to attributes of care) and whether there are places for item reduction with little impact on construct validity.

5.3. Limitations and Strengths

In building our summary of the classification of items found in the instruments and surveys, we were limited in assessing the appropriate coverage of various dimensions/sub-dimensions as we resorted to a simple covered/not covered dichotomy. Further research would be necessary to analyze the depth in which each dimension is covered by each survey or instrument selected. Futher, an overall assessment of how well the instruments and surveys perform amongst various groups (e.g., men vs. women, older adults with multiple chronic conditions, those who are marginalized by multiple intersecting determinants of health) was not performed. Our intent was solely to map the surveys and instruments to a set of attributes seen as important in evaluating PHC performance from patients' perspectives. Finally, we did not perform an in-depth analysis of the reliability or validity of the

different instruments and surveys. The Patient Experience Survey did undergo cognitive testing in English and French to assess whether the item was interpreted as intended by patients. Content validation of our survey was assessed by garnering feedback from the larger PHC research community.

This work was aimed at identifying the relevant dimensions of PHC best measured through patient reports. However, we cannot be sure that we have captured all available and relevant surveys and instruments. While we are confident that our review of surveys and instruments captured the most used tools, it could be that there are dimensions of PHC best captured through patient reports that were missed. One example is how the dimension of Equity, the extent to which access to health care and quality services are provided on the basis of health needs, without systematic differences on the basis of individual or social characteristics^[40], is not measured by the Patient Experiences Survey. Work is currently underway by Browne, Varcoe, and Ford-Gilboe^[87] to construct and pilot test questions that will capture the dimension of Equity from patients.

6. Conclusion

To support current measurement of patient experiences in PHC, it is important that health providers, managers, patients and decision-makers have access to a greater number of convincing and comparable data (existing and new). The number of dimensions of PHC best reported by patients, as we have seen in the work of Haggerty et al.[40] Hogg et al.,[45] and Watson et al., [46] suggest that conceptualizing patient experiences is complex. Many dimensions were considered for the final Canadian Patient Experiences Survey. This work documented and classified existing patient experiences in PHC surveys and instruments and also provided the foundation for the development of the Canadian Patient Experiences Survey. The final survey consists of six dimensions of PHC best measured from patient reports of their experiences.



7. References

- Jaakkimainen, R.L., J. Barnsley, J. Klein-Geltink, A. Kopp, and R.H. Glazier, Did Changing Primary Care Delivery Models Change Performance? A Population Based Study Using Health Administrative Data. BMC Family Practice, 2011. 12(1): p. 44-44.
- 2. Starfield, B., L. Shi, and J. Macinko, Contribution of Primary Care to Health Systems and Health. *The Milbank Quarterly*, 2005. 83(3): p. 457-502.
- 3. World Health Organization. *The World Health Report 2008: Primary Health Care Now More Than Ever.* 2008, World Health Organization: Geneva, Switzerland.
- 4. Broemeling, A.-M., *Measuring the Performance of Primary Health Care: Existing Capacity and Future Information Needs.* 2006, Vancouver, B.C.: Centre for Health Services and Policy Research, University of British Columbia.
- 5. Wong, S.T., A.J. Browne, C. Vacoe, J. Lavoie, V. Smye, O. Godwin, D. Littlejohn, and D. Tu, Enhancing measurement of primary health care indicators using an equity lens: An ethnographic study. *International Journal for Equity in Health*, 2011. 10: p. 38.
- 6. Sutherland, K. and N. Coyle, *Quality in Healthcare in England, Wales, Scotland, Northern Ireland: An Intra-UK Chartbook*, 2009, The Health Foundation: London, UK.
- 7. Health Council of Canada, *Health Care Renewal in Canada: Clearing the Road to Quality*, 2006, Health Council of Canada: Toronto, ON.
- 8. Safran, D.G., M. Karp, K. Coltin, H. Chang, A. Li, J. Ogren, and W.H. Rogers, Measuring Patients' Experiences with Individual Primary Care Physicians: Results of a Statewide Demonstration Project. *Journal of General Internal Medicine*, 2006. 21(1): p. 13-21.
- 9. National Academy of Science, Moving Forward: What Should be Measured?, in *Performance Measurement: Accelerating Improvement*. 2006, National Academy of Science: Washington, DC. p. 71-94.
- Institute for Healthcare Improvement. Patient-Centered Care. 2006 [cited 2006 Sept 13]; Available from: http://www.ihi.org/IHI/Topics/PatientCenteredCare/ PatientCenteredCareGeneral/EmergingContent/.
- 11. Canadian Institute for Health Information, *Primary Health Care Indicator Development Project*, 2005, Canadian Institute for Health Information: Toronto, ON.
- 12. McMurchy, D., What are the Critical Attributes and Benefits of a High-quality Primary Healthcare System?, 2009, Canadian Health Services Research Foundation: Ottawa, ON.
- 13. Donabedian, A., Quality assurance in health care: consumers' role. *Quality in Health Care*, 1992. 1: p. 247-251.
- 14. Hadorn, D., The role of public values in setting health care priorities. *Social Science and Medicine*, 1991. 32(7): p. 773-781.
- 15. Wensing, M., H.P. Jung, J. Mainz, F. Olesen, and R. Grol, A systematic review of the literature on patient priorities for general practice care. Part 1: description of the research domain. *Social Science and Medicine*, 1998. 47(10): p. 1573-1588.
- 16. Cleary, P. and S. Edgman-Levitan, Health care quality: incorporating consumer perspectives. *Journal of the American Medical Association*, 1997. 278(19): p. 1608-1611.

- 17. Davis, K., S. Schoenbaum, and A.-M. Audet, A 2020 vision of patient-centered primary care. *Journal of General Internal Medicine*, 2005. 20: p. 953-957.
- 18. Golin, C., M. DiMatteo, and L. Gelberg, The Role of Patient Participation in the Doctor Visit: Implications for Adherence to Diabetes Care. *Diabetes Care*, 1996. 19: p. 1153-1164.
- 19. Brown, R., Behavioural Issues in Asthma Management. *Pediatric Pulmonology Supplement*, 2001. 21: p. 26-30.
- 20. Bartlett, J., Addressing the Challenges of Adherence. *Journal of Acquired Immune Deficiency Syndrome*, 2002. 1: p. S2-10.
- 21. Taylor, D., R. Wolfe, and P. Cameron, Complaints from Emergency Department Patients Largely Result from Treatment and Communication Problems. *Emergency Medicine*, 2002. 14: p. 43-49.
- 22. Halperin, E., Grievances against physicians: 11 years' experience of a medical society grievance committee. Western Journal of Medicine, 2000. 173: p. 235-238.
- 23. Hickson, G.B., E.W. Clayton, P.B. Githens, and F.A. Sloan, Factors that Prompted Families to File Medical Malpractice Claims Following Perinatal Injuries. *Journal of the American Medical Association*, 1992. 267: p. 1359-1363.
- 24. Hickson, G.B., C.F. Federspiel, J.W. Pichert, C.S. Miller, J. Gauld-Jaeger, and P. Bost, Patient Complaints and Malpractice Risk. *Journal of the American Medical Association*, 2002. 287: p. 2951-2957.
- 25. Maly, R., L. Bourque, and R. Engelhardt, A Randomized Controlled Trial of Facilitating Information Giving to Patients with Chronic Medical Conditions: Effects on Outcomes of Care. *Journal of Family Practice*, 1999. 48: p. 356-363.
- Covinsky, K.E., G.E. Rosenthal, M. Chren, A.C. Justice, R.H. Fortinsky, R.M. Palmer, and C.S. Landefeld, The Relation Between Health Status Changes and Patient Satisfaction in Older Hospitalized Medical Patients. *Journal of General Internal Medicine*, 1998. 13: p. 223-229.
- 27. Starfield, B., C. Cassady, J. Nanda, C.B. Forrest, and R. Berk, Consumer experiences and provider perceptions of the quality of primary care: implications for managed care. *Journal of Family Practice*, 1998. 46(3): p. 216-26.
- 28. Safran, D.G., A.R. Tarlov, and W.H. Rogers, Primary Care Performance in Fee-for-service and Prepaid Health Care Systems. Results from the Medical Outcomes Study. *Journal of the American Medical Association*, 1994. 271(20): p. 1579-86.
- 29. Safran, D.G., M. Kosinski, A.R. Tarlov, W.H. Rogers, D.H. Taira, N. Lieberman, and J.E. Ware, The Primary Care Assessment Survey: Tests of Data Quality and Measurement Performance. *Medical Care*, 1998. 36(5): p. 728-39.
- 30. Safran, D.G., D.A. Taira, W.H. Rogers, M. Kosinski, J.E. Ware, and A.R. Tarlov, Linking primary care performance to outcomes of care. *Journal of Family Practice*, 1998. 47(3): p. 213-20.



- 31. Safran, D.G., W.H. Rogers, A.R. Tarlov, T. Inui, D.A. Taira, J.E. Montgomery, J.E. Ware, and C.P. Slavin, Organizational and financial characteristics of health plans: are they related to primary care performance? *Archives of Internal Medicine*, 2000. 160(1): p. 69-76.
- 32. Safran, D.G., I.B. Wilson, W.H. Rogers, J.E. Montgomery, and H. Chang, Primary care quality in the Medicare Program: comparing the performance of Medicare health maintenance organizations and traditional fee-for-service Medicare.[see comment]. *Archives of Internal Medicine*, 2002. 162(7): p. 757-65.
- 33. Flocke, S., Measuring Attributes of Primary Care: Development of a New Instrument. *Journal of Family Practice*, 1997. 34(1): p. 64-76.
- 34. Grol, R., M. Wensing, J. Mainz, H.P. Jung, P. Ferreira, H. Hearnshaw, P. Hjortdahl, F. Olesen, S. Reis, M. Ribacke, and J. Szecsenyi, Patients in Europe evaluate general practice care: an international comparison.[see comment]. *British Journal of General Practice*, 2000. 50(460): p. 882-7.
- 35. Wensing, M., J. Mainz, and R. Grol, A standardized instrument for patient evaluation of general practice care in Europe. *Journal of General Practice*, 2000. 6: p. 82-87.
- 36. Statistics Canada. Canadian Community Health Survey. 2005 2005-03-08 [cited 2006 Sept 13]; Available from: http://www.statcan.ca/english/concepts/hs/index.htm.
- 37. Statistics Canada. Health Services Access Survey. 2003 2005-03-08 [cited 2006 Sept 13]; Available from: http://www.statcan.ca/english/concepts/hs/index.htm.
- 38. Statistics Canada. Canadian Survey of Experiences with Primary Health Care (CSE-PHC). 2007 [cited 2013 February 14]; Available from: http://www23.statcan.gc.ca/imdb/p2SV.pl?F unction=getSurvey&SDDS=5138&Item_Id=29472&lang=en.
- 39. SSchoen, C., R. Osborn, P. Trang Huynh, M. Doty, K. Davis, K. Zapert, and J. Peugh, Primary care and health system performance: adults' experiences in five countries. *Health Affairs*, 2004. 28 (Web exclusive): p. 487-503.
- 40. Haggerty, J., F. Burge, J-F. Lévesque, D. Gass, R. Pineault, M.D. Beaulieu, et al., Operational Definitions of Attributes of Primary Health Care: Consensus Among Canadian Experts. *Annals of Family Medicine*, 2007. 5 (4): p. 336-344.
- 41. Marshall, E.G., S.T. Wong, J. Haggerty, and J-F. Lévesque, Perceptions of Unmet Healthcare Needs: What do Punjabi and Chinese-speaking Immigrants Think? A Qualitative Study. *BMC Health Services Research*, 2010. 10(1): p. 46-46.
- 42. Wong, S.T., D.E. Watson, E. Young, and S. Regan, What Do People Think Is Important about Primary Healthcare? *Healthcare Policy*, 2008. 3(3): p. 89-104.
- 43. Harris-Kojetin, L.D., F.J. Fowler, J.A. Brown, J.A. Schnaier, and S.F. Sweeny, The Use of Cognitive Testing to Develop and Evaluate CAHPS™ 1.0 Core Survey Items. *Medical Care*, 1999. 37(Supplement): p. MS10-MS21.
- 44. Sudman, S., R. Warnecke, T. Johnson, D. O'Rourke, and A. Davis, *Cognitive Aspects of Reporting Cancer Prevention Examinations and Tests, in Vital and Health Statistics Series 6: Cognition and Survey Measurement,* 1994, U.S. Department of Health and Human Services: Maryland, US.

- 45. Hogg, W., M. Rowan, G. Russell, R. Geneau, and L. Muldoon, Framework for primary care organizations: the importance of a structural domain. *International Journal for Quality in Health Care*, 2008. 20(5): p. 308-313.
- 46. Watson, D.E., A.M. Broemeling, and S.T. Wong, A Results-Based Logic Model for Primary Healthcare: A Conceptual Foundation for Population-Based Information Systems. *Healthcare Policy*, 2009. 5(Special Issue): p. 33.
- 47. Stewart, A.L., A.M. Nápoles-Springer, and E.J. Pérez-Stable, Interpersonal Processes of Care in Diverse Populations. *The Milbank Quarterly*, 1999. 77(3): p. 305-339.
- 48. Thom, D.H., S.T. Wong, D. Guzman, A. Wu, J. Penko, C. Miaskowski, and M. Kushel, Physician Trust in the Patient: Development and Validation of a New Measure. *Annals of Family Medicine*, 2011. 9(2): p. 148-154.
- 49. Hibbard, J.H., E.R. Mahoney, J. Stockard, and M. Tusler, Development of the Patient Activation Measure (PAM): Conceptualizing and Measuring Activation in Patients and Consumers. *Health Services Research*, 2004. 39(4 Pt 1): p. 1005-1026.
- 50. Wong, S.T., S. Peterson, and C. Black, Patient Activation in Primary Healthcare: A Comparison between Healthier Individuals and Those with a Chronic Illness. *Medical Care*, 2011. 49(5): p. 469-79.
- 51. Checkland, K., M. Marshall, and S. Harrison, Re-thinking Accountability: Trust Versus Confidence in Medical Practice. *Quality & Safety in Health Care*, 2004. 13(2): p. 130-135.
- 52. Wong, S.T., C. Black, J. Haggerty, J-F. Lévesque, and A. Katz, *Canadians' Perspectives on the Quality of Primary Health Care*, 2007, Canadian Institutes for Health Research: Canada.
- 53. Wong, S.T., C. Black, J. Haggerty, J-F. Lévesque, M.J. Lynam, and M. MacEntee, *Chinese and South Asians' Preferences and Expectations of Primary Health Care*, 2006, Canadian Institutes for Health Research: BC.
- 54. Haggerty, J. Volume 7 Special Issue: Measurement of Primary Healthcare Attributes. 2011 [cited 2012 October 10]; Available from: http://www.longwoods.com/publications/healthcare-policy/22634
- 55. New Brunswick Health Council. The New Brunswick Health Council (NBHC) 2011 Primary Health Care Survey. 2011 [cited 2013 February 14]; Available from: http://www.nbhc.ca/nb_primary_care_health_survey.cfm.
- 56. Government of Manitoba. Physician Integrated Network (PIN). 2012 [cited 2013 February 14]; Available from: http://www.gov.mb.ca/health/primarycare/pin/index.html.
- 57. Ontario Ministry of Health and Long-Term Care. The Primary Care Access Survey. 2008 [cited 2013 February 14]; Available from: http://www.health.gov.on.ca/en/news/bulle-tin/2010/pcas_survey.aspx.
- 58. Burge, F., B. Lawson, et al., *Nova Scotia Primary Care Practice Survey*, S.T. Wong, Editor. 2005.
- 59. Shi, L., B. Starfield, and J. Xu, Validating the Adult Primary Care Assessment Tool. *Journal of Family Practice*, 2001. 50(2): p. 161.



- 60. TOPAS Europe. EUROPEP. 2006 [cited 2013 February 14]; Available from: http://www.topaseurope.eu/?q=node/13.
- 61. Netherlands Institute for Health Services Research. QUALICOPC. 2010 [cited 2013 February 14]; Available from: http://www.qualicopc.eu/.
- 62. Marshall, G.N. and R.D. Hays. The Patient Satisfaction Questionnaire Short-Form. 1994 [cited 2013 February 14]; Available from: http://www.rand.org/content/dam/rand/pubs/papers/2006/P7865.pdf.
- 63. Borowsky, S.J., D.B. Nelson, J.C. Fortney, A.N. Hedeen, J.L. Bradly, and M.K. Chapko, VA Community-based Outpatient Clinics: Performance Measures Based on Patient Perceptions of Care. *Medical Care*, 2002. 40(7): p. 578-586.
- 64. Mercer, S.W. and J.G. Howie, CQI-2--a new measure of holistic interpersonal care in primary care consultations. *British Journal of General Practice*, 2006. 56(525): p. 262-8.
- 65. King, S., P. Rosenbaum, and G. King, *The Measure of Processes of Care: A means to assess family-centred behaviours of health care providers*, 1995, McMaster University, Neurodevelopmental Clinical Research Unit: Hamilton, ON.
- 66. Steine, S., A. Finset, and E. Laerum, A new, brief questionnaire (PEQ) developed in primary health care for measuring patients' experience of interaction, emotion and consultation outcome. *Family Practice*, 2001. 18(4): p. 410-418.
- 67. Stewart, M., *Patient-centered Medicine: Transforming the Clinical Method.* 1995, Thousand Oaks: Sage Publications.
- 68. Howie, J.G., D.J. Heaney, M. Maxwell, and J.J. Walker, A Comparison of a Patient Enablement Instrument (PEI) against Two Established Satisfaction Scales as an Outcome Measure of Primary Care Consultations. *Family Practice*, 1998. 15(2): p. 165-171.
- 69. Statistics Canada. Canadian Survey of Experiences with Primary Health Care (CSE-PHC). 2009 [cited 2013 February]; Available from: http://www23.statcan.gc.ca/imdb/p2SV.pl?Function=getSurvey&SDDS=5138&Item_Id=29472&lang=en.
- 70. Haggerty, J., J-F. Lévesque, D.A. Santor, F. Burge, C. Beaulieu, F. Bouharaoui, M-D. Beaulieu, and R. Pineault, Accessibility from the patient perspective: comparison of primary healthcare evaluation instruments. *Healthcare Policy*, 2011. 7(Special Issue): p. 94-107.
- 71. Haggerty, J.B., F; Santor, D., Differential Item Functioning in Primary Healthcare Evaluation Instruments by French/ English Version, Educational Level and Urban/ Rural Location. *Healthcare Policy*, 2011. 7(Special): p. 19.
- 72. Pineault, R. J-F. Lévesque, B. Simard, M. Hamel, D. Roberge, D. Ouellet, and J. Haggerty, *Population Questionnaire*, 2005, Direction de Santé Publique de Montréal: Montréal, QC.
- 73. Haggerty, J., D. Roberge, G.K. Freeman, C. Beaulieu, and M. Bréton, When patients encounter several providers: Validation of a generic measure of continuity of care. *Annals of Family Medicine*, 2011. (submitted).
- 74. Care Quality Commission. NHS Patient Surveys. 2013 [cited 2013 February]; Available from: http://www.nhssurveys.org/.

- 75. Ramsay, J., J.L. Campbell, S. Schroter, J. Green, and M. Roland, The general practice assessment survey (GPAS): tests of data quality and measurement properties. *Family Practice*, 2000. 17(5): p. 372-379.
- 76. General Practice Assessment Questionnaire Administration. General Practice Assessment Questionnaire. 2012 [cited 2013 February]; Available from: http://www.gpaq.info/.
- 77. Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality. CAHPS Clinician and Group Surveys. 2013 [cited 2013 February]; Available from: http://cahps.ahrq.gov/clinician_group/.
- 78. Stewart, A.L., A.M. Napoles-Springer, S.E. Gregorich, and J. Santoyo-Olsson, Interpersonal Processes of Care Survey: Patient-Reported Measures for Diverse Groups. *Health Services Research*, 2007. 43(3 Pt 1): p. 1235-1256.
- 79. Shi, L., B. Starfield, and J. Xu, Validating the adult primary care assessment tool. *Journal of Family Practice*, 2001. 50: p. n161w-n171w.
- 80. Safran, D.G., M. Karp, K. Coltin, H. Chang, A. Li, J. Ogren, and W.H. Rogers, Measuring patients' experiences with individual primary care physicians: results of a statewide demonstration project. *Journal of General Internal Medicine*, 2006. 21: p. 13-21.
- 81. Glasgow, R.E., E.H. Wagner, J. Schaefer, L.D. Mahoney, R.J. Reid, and S.M. Greene, Development and validation of the patient assessment of chronic illness care (PACIC). *Medical Care*, 2006. 43(5): p. 436-444.
- 82. Commonwealth Fund. 2007, 2008, 2009, 2010, 2011 International Health Policy Survey. 2013 [cited 2013 February]; Available from: http://www.commonwealthfund.org/Surveys/View-All.aspx?page=1.
- 83. Haggerty, J., F. Bouharaoui, and D. Santor, Differential Item Functioning in Primary Healthcare Evaluation Instruments by French/ English Version, Educational Level and Urban/ Rural Location. *Healthcare Policy*, 2011. 7(Special): p. 19.
- 84. Haggerty, J., M-D. Beaulieu, R. Pineault, F. Burge, J-F. Lévesque, D.A. Santor, F. Bouharaoui, and C. Beaulieu, Comprehensiveness of Care from the Patient Perspective: Comparison of Primary Healthcare Evaluation Instruments. *Healthcare Policy*, 2011. 7(Special Issue): p. 154-166.
- 85. Haggerty, J.L., F. Burge, M-D. Beaulieu, R. Pineault, C. Beaulieu, J-F. Lévesque, D.A. Santor, D. Gass, and B. Lawson, Validation of Instruments to Evaluate Primary Healthcare from the Patient Perspective: Overview of the Method. *Healthcare Policy*, 2011. 7(Special Issue): p. 31-46.
- 86. Haggerty, J., J-F. Lévesque, D.A. Santor, F. Burge, C. Beaulieu, F. Bouharaoui, M-D. Beaulieu, and R. Pineault, Accessibility from the Patient Perspective: Comparison of Primary Healthcare Evaluation Instruments. *Healthcare Policy*, 2011. 7(Special Issue): p. 94-107.
- 87. Browne, A.J., C. Varcoe, M. Ford-Gilboe, S.T. Wong, J. Haggerty, et al., *Equity-Oriented Primary Health Care Interventions for Marginalized Populations: Addressing Structural Inequities and Structural Violence*, 2011, Canadian Institutes for Health Research: BC and ON.



8. Appendix

8.1. Classification of the Items from the Selected Survey Tools

This appendix presents the PHC patient experience survey items and responses related to the review of selected surveys. The questions are grouped according to the dimensions of patient experiences in PHC presented in Table 3.

8.2. Access

8.2.1. First contact accessibility: The ability to obtain patient- or client-initiated needed care (including advice and support) from the provider of choice within a time frame appropriate to the urgency of the problem.

Instrument	Question	Item stem	Response categories
Rural II/III	Q21	Based on your experience, how easy is it for you to get health advice from your clinic over the phone?	Not at all easy / Not very easy / A bit easy / Moderately easy / Very easy

8.2.2. Accommodation: The relationship between how resources are organized to accept clients or patients (including appointment systems, hours of operation, walk-in facilities, telephone services) and the clients' or patients' ability to accommodate to these factors to realize access.

Instrument	Question	Item stem	Response categories	
Patient Experiences	Q1	Why did you come to the clinic today? (Check all that apply)	Routine examination / Follow-up of a health problem/pregnancy follow-up / New health problem / An urgent but minor health problem / Prescription renewal / Many issues to discuss / Other, specify	
Patient Experiences	Q2	How long did you wait between making this appointment and your visit today?	I had a walk-in appointment -> Go to question 5 1 to 2 days / Between 2 days and 1 week / 1 to 2 weeks / 2 to 4 weeks / 4 to 6 weeks / More than 6 weeks	
GPAQ & NHS	Q3	How do you rate this wait?	Not acceptable at all / Not very acceptable / Moderately acceptable / Acceptable / Very acceptable	
GPAQ & NHS	Q4	How easy was it to make this appointment?	Very easy / Fairly easy / Not very easy / Not at all easy	
GPAQ & NHS	Q5	How easy was it to get through to someone at your clinic on the phone?	Very easy / Fairly easy / Not very easy / Not at all easy / Not applicable	
GPAQ & NHS	Q6	How long did you wait for your consultation to start?	Less than 5 minutes / 5 to 10 minutes / 11 to 20 minutes / 21 to 30 minutes / More than 30 minutes / There was no set time for my consultation	
CSE-PHC & Patient Experiences	Q20	Were there times when you had difficulty getting the healthcare or advice you needed?	No -> Go to question 21 / Yes, once -> / Yes, several times -> If yes, what type of difficulties did you experience? Difficulty contacting a physician / A specialist was unavailable / Difficulty getting an appointment / Do not have personal/family physician / Waited too long to get an appointment / Waited too long in the waiting room / Service not available at time required / Service not available in the area / Transportation problems / Cost issues / Language barriers / Did not feel comfortable with the available doctor or nurse / Did not know where to go (i.e., information problems) / Unable to leave the house because of a health problem / Other, please specify:	

8.2.3. Economic Accessibility: The extent to which direct or indirect costs related to care impeded decisions to access needed care or continue recommended care.

Instrument	Question	Item stem	Response categories
			No / Yes ->
QPop	Q22	Thinking about costs related to your healthcare In the past year, did you ever pay directly for any services in your doctor's office?	If yes, was it: Opening a file / Filling in forms / Getting a sick note / Medical services not covered by Medicare / Medicine or shots / Administra- tion costs, please specify:
Rural II/III	Q23-27	In the past year 23. Were there times when you did not take medicines prescribed by a doctor because of their costs? 24. Were there times when you did not take laboratory tests or exams because of their costs? 25. Were there times when you did not get services recommended by your doctor that aren't covered by health insurance because of their costs? (such as physiotherapy, psychotherapy, dietetic)	Never / Rarely / Sometimes / Often / Very often / I don't take any drugs
		26. Were there times when you found it difficult to get health care because you had to take time off work? 27. Were there times when you found it difficult to get health care services because of the additional costs it involves? (babysitting, parking, etc.)	Never / Rarely / Sometimes / Often / Very often / I did not use any of these services

8.3. Interpersonal Communication

8.3.1. General communication: The ability of the provider to elicit and understand patient or client concerns, and to explain health and health care issues.

Instrument	Question	Item stem	Response categories
GPAQ	Q8-11	Thinking about your visit today 8. How would you evaluate the amount of time that the person gave you? 9. How would you evaluate the way they listened to you during the visit? 10. How would you evaluate their explanations of tests and treatments? 11. How would you evaluate the way they involved you in decisions about your care?	Very good / Good / Fair / Poor / Very poor
IPC	Q12-15	Still thinking about the person you saw during your visit today 12. Did he or she really find out what your concerns were? 13. Did he or she let you saw what you thought was important? 14. Did he or she take your health concerns very seriously? 15. Was he or she concerned about your feelings?	Yes, completely / Yes, mostly / Yes, a little / No, not really / No, not at all
CWF	Q16-17	Still thinking about the person you saw during your visit today 16. Did he or she give you clear instructions about symptoms to watch for and when to seek further care or treatment? 17. Did he or she discuss with you your main goals or priorities in caring for your condition?	Yes, completely / Yes, mostly / Yes, a little / No, not really / No, not at all



8.3.2. Respectfulness: The ability of the primary care organization and practitioners to provide care that meets the expectations of users about how people should be treated, such as regard for dignity and provision of adequate privacy.

Instrument	Question	Item stem	Response categories
GPAQ	Q28	Over the past 12 months How helpful did you find the receptionist at your clinic?	Very helpful / Moderately helpful / Somewhat helpful / Not at all helpful
CAHPS	Q29	Over the past 12 months Did the clerks and receptionists at this clinic treat you with courtesy and respect?	Never / Sometimes / Often

8.3.3. Shared decision-making: The extent to which patients are involved in making decisions about their treatment.

Instrument	Question	Item stem	Response categories
IPC	Q31-34	Over the past 12 months 31. Did you and your doctor work out a treatment plan together? 32. Did your doctor ask you questions about your daily activities before deciding a treatment plan? 33. Did your doctor ask if you felt you could do the recommended treatment plan? 34. When there were treatment choices, did your doctor ask you what treatment you would prefer?	No / Yes, sometimes / Yes, often / I don't receive any treatment
PACIC	Q64	Over the past 6 months 64. When you received care for your chronic conditions were you helped to make a treatment plan that you could carry out in your daily life?	Yes, certainly / Yes, probably / Maybe, not sure / No, not really / No, not at all / No, I haven't needed such support

8.3.4. Whole-person care: The extent to which providers address the physical, emotional and social aspects of a patient's or client's health and consider the community context in their care.

Instrument	Question	Item stem	Response categories
Manage- ment Continuity/ PCAS / ACES	Q35-38	About your visits to your doctor/clinic over the past 12 months 35. Did your doctor or nurse seem to know about your whole medical history? 36. Did your doctor or nurse seem to know about what worries you most about your health? 37. Did your doctor or nurse seem to know about your responsibilities at work or home? 38. Did your doctor or nurse seem to know about your personal values?	Hardly at all / A little / Moderately / A lot / Totally

8.4. Continuity and Coordination

8.4.1. Relational continuity: A therapeutic relationship between a patient or client and one or more identified providers that spans separate health care episodes and delivers care that is consistent with the patient's or client's biopsychosocial needs.

Instrument	Question	Item stem	Response categories
PCAT	Q7	Is there a person (health professional) who knows you best at this clinic?	No -> Go to question 8 / Yes If yes, is this a A family doctor or general practitioner / A nurse practitioner / A specialist / A nurse / Some other health professional (please specify) Did you see this person today? Yes / No Would you say this person is responsible for most of your health care? Yes / No
PCAT	Q30	Thinking of the past 12 months, when you went to this clinic, how often were you taken care of by the same person?	Always / Usually / Sometimes / Rarely / Never

8.4.2. Information continuity: The extent to which information is used to make current care appropriate to the patient or client.

Instrument	Question	Item stem	Response categories
Manage- ment Continuity	Q39-43	About ALL the different people that you saw at ALL the different places you got care over the last year Over the past 12 months 39. Were there times when the person you were consulting did not know your most recent medical history? 40. Were there times when the person you were seeing did not have access to your recent tests or exam results? 41. Were there times when you had to repeat tests because the person you were seeing did not have access to results? 42. Were there times when the person you were seeing did not know about changes in your treatment that another person recommended? 43. Were there times when you had to repeat information that should be in your medical record?	Never / Rarely / Sometimes / Often / All the time



8.4.3. Coordination: The provision and organization of a combination of health services and information with which to meet a patient's or client's health needs, including services available from other community health service providers.

Instrument	Question	Item stem	Response categories
Manage- ment Continuity	Q46	About your experiences with any kind of care outside the clinic Over the past 12 months In general, do you feel that you yourself have to arrange the healthcare you receive from different persons or places?	No, the person who follows my care always does it for me / No, the person who follows my care sometimes does it for me / Yes, but it is my choice to do so / Yes, I have to organize my care more than I would like / Yes, too much and it is too difficult
			No -> Go to question 47 / Yes
		About your experiences with any kind	If yes, is this person a: A nurse / A nurse practitioner / Your doctor / Other health professional, please specify:
Manage- ment Continuity	Q47	of care outside the clinic Over the past 12 months Thinking about all the different persons you saw in all the places you went for care; Is there ONE person who ensures follow-up of your healthcare?	How much does this person keep in contact with you even when you receive care in other places? Not at all / Very little / Moderately / Quite a lot / A lot
Continuity			How much does this person help you get the health care you need from other places? Not at all / Very little / Moderately / Quite a lot / A lot
			How much does this person contact other health professionals about your care? Not at all / Very little / Moderately / Quite a lot / A lot
Manage-		About the person whom you see most at this clinic. Over the past 12 months 69. How much importance does this person give to your ideas about your care?	Hardly any importance / Only a little / Moderate importance / A lot of importance / Immense importance
ment Continuity	Q69-71	70. How comfortable do you feel talking with this person about personal problems related to your health condition?	Hardly comfortable at all / Only somewhat / Moderately / Very comfortable / Completely comfortable
		71. How confident are you that this person will look after you no matter what happens with your health?	Not very confident at all / Only somewhat / Moderately / Very confident / Completely confident
PACIC	Q63	Over the past 6 months 63. When you received care for your chronic conditions were you encouraged to go to a specific group or class to help you cope with your chronic condition?	Yes, certainly / Yes, probably / Maybe, not sure / No, not really / No, not at all / No, I haven't needed such support
PACIC	Q65-66	Over the past 6 months 65. When you received care for your chronic conditions were you contacted after a visit to see how things were going? 66. When you received care for your chronic conditions were you encouraged to attend programs in the community that could help you?	Yes, certainly / Yes, probably / Maybe, not sure / No, not really / No, not at all / No, I haven't needed such support

8.4.4. Team functioning: The ability of primary health care providers to work effectively as a collaborative team to manage and deliver quality patient or client care.

Instrument	Question	Item stem	Response categories	
Manage- ment Continuity	Q48-50	About all the people working at the clinic where your regular doctor see you 48. Were there times when persons from your clinic told you different things (that didn't make sense together) about your health? 49. Were there times when persons from your clinic did not seem to work well together? 50. Were there times when persons from your clinic did not seem to know who should be doing what in your healthcare?	ur Never / Sometimes / Often	
Patient Experiences	Q67-68	67. Other than your doctor, who else at your clinic do you see to manage your health condition? (Check as many as apply) 68. Other than people at this clinic, who else do you see to manage your health condition?	or an occupational therapist / A psychologist or a social worker / complementary/alternative person	

8.5. Comprehensiveness of Services

8.5.1. Services provided: The type and range of services delivered by primary health care providers. This also includes referrals to and from the primary health care organization.

About the care you receive 51. In the last 12 months, has your clinic provided everything you need to help you manage your health concerns? 52. In the last 12 months, have you had enough support from local services or organizations to help you manage your health concerns? About the care you receive 51. In the last 12 months, has your clinic provided everything you extent / No, not really / No, not at all / No, I haven't needed such support	Instrument	Question	Item stem	Response categories
	NHS	Q51-52	51. In the last 12 months, has your clinic provided everything you need to help you manage your health concerns? 52. In the last 12 months, have you had enough support from local	extent / No, not really / No, not at all / No, I haven't needed such

8.5.2. Health promotion and primary prevention: Health promotion is the process of enabling people to increase control over, and to improve, their health. Primary prevention is directed towards preventing the initial occurrence of a disorder.

Question	Item stem	Response categories					
Q53	Over the past year, who at this clinic talked to you about any of the following subjects? Check as many as apply for each subject		Your doctor	Another doctor	A nurse	Some- one else (specify)	No one
		Impact of healthy and non-healthy foods on your health					
		Importance of healthy weight					
		Importance of exercise/ healthy lifestyle					
		Tobacco use on your health					
		Alcohol or drug use					
		Prevention of falls					
		Ways to handle family conflicts that may arise from time to time					
		Prevention of risks at work					
		Over the past year, who at this clinic talked to you about any of the following subjects? Check as many as apply	Over the past year, who at this clinic talked to you about any of the following subjects? Check as many as apply for each subject Over the past year, who at this clinic talked to you about any of the following subjects? Check as many as apply for each subject Impact of healthy and non-healthy foods on your health Importance of exercise/ healthy lifestyle Tobacco use on your health Alcohol or drug use Prevention of falls Ways to handle family conflicts that may arise from time to time	Over the past year, who at this clinic talked to you about any of the following subjects? Check as many as apply for each subject Over the past year, who at this clinic talked to you about any of the following subjects? Check as many as apply for each subject Diagram of healthy and non-healthy foods on your health Importance of healthy weight Importance of healthy weight Importance of exercise/ healthy lifestyle Tobacco use on your health Alcohol or drug use Prevention of falls Ways to handle family conflicts that may arise from time to time	Over the past year, who at this clinic talked to you about any of the following subjects? Check as many as apply for each subject Over the past year, who at this clinic talked to you about any of the following subjects? Check as many as apply for each subject Doacco use on your health Alcohol or drug use Prevention of falls Ways to handle family conflicts that may arise from time to time	Over the past year, who at this clinic talked to you about any of the following subjects? Check as many as apply for each subject Over the past year, who at this clinic talked to you about any of the following subjects? Check as many as apply for each subject Display and non-healthy foods on your health lmportance of healthy weight lmportance of exercise/ healthy lifestyle Tobacco use on your health Alcohol or drug use Prevention of falls Ways to handle family conflicts that may arise from time to time	Over the past year, who at this clinic talked to you about any of the following subjects? Check as many as apply for each subject Over the past year, who at this clinic talked to you about any of the following subjects? Check as many as apply for each subject Name of healthy and non-healthy foods on your health Importance of healthy weight Importance of exercise/ healthy lifestyle Tobacco use on your health Alcohol or drug use Prevention of falls Ways to handle family conflicts that may arise from time to time



8.6. Patient Reported Impacts of Primary Health Care

8.6.1. Patient activation: People's ability or readiness to engage in health behaviors that will maintain or improve their health status.

Instrument	Question	Item stem	Response categories	
54. Di everda in you 55. Di could 56. Di contro 57. Di stickin 58. Di		Over the past 12 months 54. Did the person you saw most at the clinic help you feel that your everday activities such as diet and lifestyle would make a difference in your health? 55. Did the person you saw most at the clinic help you feel that you could prevent some health problems? 56. Did the person you saw most at the clinic give you a sense of control over your health? 57. Did the person you saw most at the clinic help you feel that sticking with your treatment would make a difference? 58. Did the person you saw most at the clinic help you feel confident about your ability to take care of your health?	Yes, definitely / Yes, to some extent / No, not really / No, not at all	
Patient Experiences	Q59-62	About you and your health 59. How well do you understand the nature and causes of your health problems? 60. How well do you know how to prevent problems with your health?	Completely / Very well / Moderately / A little / Hardly at all / I don't have any health problems Totally confident / Very well / Moderately / A little / Hardly confident at all	
		61. How confident are you that you can maintain the changes in your health habits like diet and exercise, even during times of stress? 62. Has any health professional ever diagnosed you with or treated you for any of the following chronic health conditions? Check as many as apply.	Heart disease / Arthritis or Rheu- matoid Arthritis / High blood pres- sure or Hypertension / Depression or Anxiety / Diabetes / Other chronic health problems	

8.6.2. Patient safety: Patients' or clients' reports of medication errors (given or taken the wrong drug or dose) or incorrect medical or laboratory reports and communication with their provider about not taking their prescribed medication or medication side effects.

Instrument	Question	Item stem	Response categories	
IPC	Q44-45	Over the past 12 months 44. How often did doctor(s) tell(s) you about side effects you might get from a medicine? 45. How often did doctor(s) tell(s) you what could happen if you don't take the medicine they prescribe for you?	Never / Rarely / Sometimes / Often / All the time	
Patient Experiences	08/1-85		Yes / No, not that I know of	

8.6.3. Confidence in the PHC system: The perception that allows patients to make decisions since we assume (and expect) relative certainty about providers delivering safe and technically competent care.

Instrument	Question	Item stem	Response categories
Patient Experiences	Q86-87	86. On a scale of 0-10, how confident are you that you could get the primary healthcare services you need? *Primary healthcare services are the ones we usually receive in clinics, doctor's office or CLSC-not the emergency room of a hospital 87. On a scale of 0-10, how confident are you in your provincial healthcare system?	Not at all confident -> Totally confident 0 / 1 / 2 / 3 / 4 / 5 / 6 / 7 / 8 / 9 /10

8.7. Trust

An expectation that the other person will behave in a way that is beneficial and that allows for risks to be taken based on this expectation. For example, patient trust in the physician provides a basis for taking the risk of sharing personal information.

Instrument	Question	Item stem	Response categories
GPAQ & NHS	Q18	Thinking about your visit today Did you have confidence in the doctor you saw or spoke to?	Yes, definitely / Yes, to some extent / No, not at all
			No -> Go to question 20 / Yes ->
GPAQ & NHS	Q19	Thinking about your visit today Did you speak to any other health care professional at the clinic today?	Please specify: Check as many as apply Only my usual doctor / Other family doctor or general practitioner / A specialist / A nurse / A nurse practitioner / A nutritionist or a dietician / A physiotherapist or an occupational therapist / A psychologist or a social worker / Complementary/Alternative person (e.g., acupuncturist, chiropractor, registered massage therapist, etc) please specify / Other, please specify Did you have confidence in this other person you saw or spoke to? Yes, definitely / Yes, to some extent / No, not at all



9. Acknowledgements

This review on the measurement of PHC patient experiences would not have been possible without the help of multiple experts in the field. First, we would like to acknowledge the contribution of two other teams leading the organizational and practitioner survey instruments.

Thanks also to Dr. Jean-Frédéric Lévesque, Cathie Scott, Dr. William Hogg, Dr. Sharon Johnston, Dr. Alan Katz, Dr. Rick Glazier, and Dr. Fred Burge, who reviewed and provided comments on some parts of this report or the Patient Experience Survey. The insights and comments of each of our reviewers contributed greatly to this effort. Their contributions were especially usefull in helping us create the final version of the instrument.

Particular thanks go to Analia Rubinowicz, Frances Handley-Derry, Leena Wu, and Dawn Mooney for the contribution of their time in supporting and coordinating the preparation of this report.

We also gratefully acknowledge the staff, especially Ali Moses McKeag, Brenda Tipper, and Greg Webster, from the Canadian Institute for Health Information (CIHI) for their support in leading this project, and other PHC research currently underway.

This review complements a suite of three practice-based survey instruments for the PHC initiative from the CIHI Primary Health Care Survey project and has been completed in order to support the creation of the Patient Experience Survey.

Advancing world-class health services and policy research, training and data resources on issues that matter to Canadians

UBC Centre for Health Services and Policy Research

The University of British Columbia 201-2206 East Mall Vancouver, B.C. Canada V6T 1Z3

Tel: 604.822.4969 Fax: 604.822.5690

Email: enquire@chspr.ubc.ca